INTERNATIONAL MONETARY FUND



IMF Committee on Balance of Payments Statistics

ANNUAL REPORT 2004



INTERNATIONAL MONETARY FUND



IMF Committee on Balance of Payments Statistics

ANNUAL REPORT 2004

IMF Statistics Department

© 2005 International Monetary Fund

Production: IMF Multimedia Services Division Typesetting: Alicia Etchebarne-Bourdin

Cataloging-in-Publication Data

IMF Committee on Balance of Payments Statistics. Annual report/IMF Committee on Balance of Payments Statistics—Washington, D.C.: IMF Statistics Department

> Current frequency: Annual. Description based on: 2004 ISSN 1020-1637 ISBN 1-58906-460-7

IMF Committee on Balance of Payments Statistics—Periodicals.
 Balance of payments—Statistics—Periodicals.
 International Monetary Fund. Statistics Department.
 HG3882.I54 2004

Please send orders to: International Monetary Fund Publications Services 700 19th Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20431, U.S.A. Tel: (202) 623-7430 Telefax: (202) 623-7201 Internet: publications@imf.org



Contents

Page

	of Abbreviations	
п	Executive Summary	1
11,		
	Recent Trends in Global Balance of Payments Statistics	
	Revision to the <i>Balance of Payments Manual</i> , Fifth Edition (<i>BPM5</i>)	
	Portfolio Investment Direct Investment	
	Remittances	
	The Heavily Indebted Poor Countries (HIPCs)	
	International Financial Statistics	
	Other Issues	
III.	Recent Trends in Global Balance of Payments Statistics	3
	Global Current Account	4
	Global Capital and Financial Accounts	
	Revisions	
IV.	Work Program Undertaken by the Committee in 2004	7
	Revision to <i>BPM5</i>	7
	Portfolio Investment	
	Direct Investment	15
	Remittances	17
	The HIPC Initiative	18
	International Financial Statistics	
	Reporting Under <i>BPM5</i>	
	Other Issues	19
V.	Future Work Program	19
VI.	2005 Meeting	19
Tab	les	
	1. Global Balances on Current Account, 1997–2003	4
	2. Global Balances on Capital and Financial Accounts, 1997–2003	5
	3. Geographic Breakdown of Total Portfolio Investment: Top Ten Economies by Holders	
	and Issuers, at Year-End 2002	11
	4. Geographic Breakdown of Total Portfolio Investment: Top Ten Economies by Holders	
	and Issuers, at Year-End 2003	12

iii

Boxes

 Some Major Decisions Taken by the Committee Regarding the Revision of <i>BPM5</i>	3
Set Up by the Committee To Assist It in Its Deliberation on the Revision of <i>BPM5</i>)
Appendices	
1. IMF Committee on Balance of Payments Statistics: Composition as of December 31, 2004 20)
2. Terms of Reference of the IMF Committee on Balance of Payments Statistics	1
3. Medium-Term Work Program of the IMF Committee on Balance of Payments	
Statistics: End-December 2004 22	2

List of Abbreviations

1993 SNA	System of National Accounts 1993
AEG	Advisory Expert Group on National Accounts
AO	Annotated Outline for the revision of <i>BPM5</i>
BAG	WIIS Benchmark Advisory Group
BCEAO	Banque Centrale des États de l'Afrique de l'Ouest
BEAC	Banque des États de l'Afrique Centrale
BIS	Bank for International Settlements
BD3	OECD Benchmark Definition of Foreign Direct Investment, third edition
BOPTEG	Balance of Payments Technical Expert Group
BPM5	Balance of Payments Manual, fifth edition
CCH	Central clearing house
CDIS	Coordinated Direct Investment Survey
	Coordinated Direct Investment Survey Central Product Classification
CPC	
CPIS	Coordinated Portfolio Investment Survey
CSDB	Centralized Securities Database
CUTEG	Currency Union Technical Expert Group
DITEG	Direct Investment Technical Expert Group
DQAF	Data Quality Assessment Framework
ECB	European Central Bank
ECCB	East Caribbean Central Bank
EMU	Economic and Monetary Union
ESCB	European System of Central Banks
Esteva Report	Final Report on the Working Party on the Statistical Discrepancy in World
	Current Account Balances
Eurostat	Statistical Office of the European Communities
External Debt Guide	External Debt Statistics: Guide for Compilers and Users
FCS	Fully Consolidated System
G-8	Group of Eight
G-10	Group of Ten
GATS	General Agreement on Trade in Services
Godeaux Report	Final Report of the Working Party on the Measurement of International
	Capital Flows
GSDB	Global securities database
HIPC	Heavily Indebted Poor Country
IIP	International investment position
ISIN	International Security Identification Number
ISWGNA	InterSecretariat Working Group on National Accounts
LCFAR	Liabilities constituting foreign authorities' reserves
NDFs	Nondeliverable forwards
OECD	Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development
OTC	Over the counter
SEFER	Survey of Securities Held as Foreign Exchange Reserves
SEIFiC	Small economy with international financial center
SIMSDI	IMF-OECD Survey on Implementation of Methodological Standards for
	Direct Investment

SME	Small or medium-sized enterprise
SPE	Special purpose entity
SSIO	Survey of Securities Held by International Organizations
STA	IMF's Statistics Department
TEG	Technical expert group
TGRT	Technical Group on Reverse Transactions
TGTPH	Technical Group on Third-Party Holdings
TSGMNP	Technical Sub-Group on the Movement of Natural Persons
TFI	OECD Task Force on Insurance
TPH	Third-party holding
UBO	Ultimate beneficial owner
UD	Ultimate destination
UNCTAD	United Nations Conference on Trade and Development
UNSD	United Nations Statistical Division
WIIS	OECD's Workshop on International Investment Statistics

Annual Report of the IMF Committee on Balance of Payments Statistics

I. Introduction

The IMF Committee on Balance of Payments Statistics (Committee) was established in 1992 for the following purposes: (i) to oversee the implementation of the recommendations contained in the reports of two IMF working parties that investigated the principal sources of discrepancy in global balance of payments statistics published by the IMF;1 (ii) to advise the IMF on methodological and compilation issues in the context of balance of payments and international investment position statistics; and (iii) to foster greater coordination of data collection among countries. The membership of the Committee as of December 31, 2004, and its terms of reference are presented in Appendices 1 and 2, respectively. In 2004, the Committee held its seventeenth meeting in October, at the South African Reserve Bank, in Pretoria, South Africa.

This report is structured as follows: Section II presents the Executive Summary. Section III provides an overview of statistical discrepancies in the global balance of payments statistics published by the IMF's Statistics Department (STA). Section IV discusses the Committee's work program during 2004, and Section V concludes with a discussion of the issues that the Committee plans to address in the coming year.

II. Executive Summary

Recent Trends in Global Balance of Payments Statistics

Initial estimates of the statistical discrepancies in the aggregations of the global current and financial accounts were considerably narrower in 2003 than in 2002. However, significant underlying discrepancies remained. The level of the imbalance in the current account in 2003 was the lowest since 1997. Although the credits and debits on services were nearly balanced (as is generally the case), the imbalances on *transportation*, *travel*, *other services*, government services, reinvested earnings, and other direct investment income were all at record or near-record levels. Moreover, while the imbalance on portfolio and other investment income fell somewhat from the record high in 2002, it remained very high.

Another way to look at the data is to express the global discrepancies as a percentage of total transactions. Viewed in this manner, a somewhat different picture emerges. The imbalance on the current account amounted to 0.2 percent of total transactions, its lowest level since 1997, and the discrepancy in services, at 0.1 percent of total transactions in services, was the lowest since 1998. Even though the imbalance on goods amounted to 0.4 percent of total transactions, the highest percentage since 1999, this should be seen in the light of the total value of recorded transactions in goods, which reached a record in 2003, rising by 16 percent to \$14,820 billion, after having shown little growth for the previous two years.

For the financial account, the aggregate statistical discrepancy fell to its lowest level since 1998. However, within the financial account, large discrepancies remained. For the first time, recorded *direct investment* debits (i.e., direct investment abroad) was higher than recorded direct investment credits (i.e., direct investment in the reporting economy).

Portfolio investment continued to record the largest discrepancies in the financial account in absolute terms in 2003. While this discrepancy fell somewhat, it remained at an elevated level. However, if the total value of gross cross-border transactions in portfolio investment were available, it is probable that the imbalance would be a very small percentage of that total. With the exception of 1998, the imbalances for this series have been consistently positive; that is, the value of net transactions in liabilities has been larger than those in net purchases.

For the rest of the financial account, the discrepancies were quite small in comparison. For *financial deriva-tives*, little changed from 2002. However, as financial derivatives are often recorded on a net basis (that is, transactions in assets are netted against transactions in liabilities) by the compiling economy, imbalances in this series should be viewed with caution. For *other invest*-

¹Final Report on the Working Party on the Statistical Discrepancy in World Current Account Balances (the so-called Esteva Report) (Washington: International Monetary Fund, 1987), and Final Report of the Working Party on the Measurement of International Capital Flows (the so-called Godeaux Report) (Washington: International Monetary Fund, 1992).

ment, the discrepancy was up somewhat from 2002, but as in all years since 2000, remained substantially lower than the large discrepancies of 1998 and 1999. For *reserve assets plus liabilities constituting foreign authorities' reserves*, the imbalance was in line with the average for the last seven years.

Revision to the Balance of Payments Manual, *Fifth Edition* (BPM5)

The Committee made decisions on several of the recommendations of three technical expert groups (TEGs). These TEGs had been set up in 2004, following the Committee's endorsement of an IMF staff proposal at its 2003 meeting to create these groups to address in depth some of the more complex technical issues involved in revising the *BPM5*. The TEGs each met once before the Committee meeting and made recommendations to the Committee on several of the issues they had been requested to consider. A further set of recommendations was made by each TEG, and these will be considered by the Committee at its 2005 meeting. In the meantime, STA will begin drafting chapters of the new manual based on the decisions already made. A complete first draft of the manual (apart from some appendices) is expected by the end of 2006.

Portfolio Investment

The Committee was brought up to date on the Coordinated Portfolio Investment Survey (CPIS) and given a presentation on the CPIS results. Addressing global discrepancies in transactions in portfolio investment was one of the first initiatives of the Committee. As a result of participating in the survey, many jurisdictions have improved the manner in which they measure not only their positions, but also transactions in and the associated income of portfolio investment.

Of the 67 jurisdictions that participated in the 2001 CPIS, all have now agreed to participate on an annual basis, and two more have started providing data. One particularly noteworthy aspect of the CPIS is that about 20 small economies with international financial centers (SEIFiCs) now take part on a continuing basis. Overall, the willingness of so many countries to participate reflects the benefits that they anticipate will flow from the availability of data on creditor holdings of securities issues. In addition, three countries agreed to participate on an ongoing basis since the survey became annual.

Direct Investment

The Committee discussed the work of the Task Force on the Feasibility of Conducting a Coordinated Direct Investment Survey (Task Force). The feasibility study and the work on direct investment for the new balance of payments manual are to be done in tandem. Work is needed on various methodological issues so that the Coordinated Direct Investment Survey (CDIS), should it proceed, can be based on the new methodological standards in the revised balance of payments manual. The feasibility study is being carried out in conjunction with the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) and other international organizations with an interest in direct investment statistics.

For a variety of reasons, the Task Force proposed that the survey be conducted as of end-2009. The Task Force felt that delaying the reference date to 2009 would have many advantages. The Task Force also proposed that the survey be limited, at least initially, to liabilities positions data (broken down by counterpart country), although it felt that assets positions data (also by counterparty) might also be collected, at least from those jurisdictions with significant outward direct investment. The Task Force determined that about 80 jurisdictions should be invited to participate in the feasibility study, provided there were sufficient participants from every region. A questionnaire will be sent to possible participants to assess their willingness to participate in a CDIS, if it were to be conducted as of end-2009, although the responses will be in no way binding.

Remittances

The Committee received a paper from the United Kingdom on statistics on remittances. A paper from the OECD's Round Table on Sustainable Development was also considered in this context. The paper from the United Kingdom informed the Committee about a set of actions agreed by the G-8, at its meeting at Sea Island in June 2004, to promote private-sector-led actions to help alleviate poverty. The G-8 has stressed the need to improve the data on remittances and to make them internationally comparable. The establishment of a statistical working group, to be led by the World Bank, has been proposed. The group would also include government agencies that compile balance of payments statistics, both from the G-8 and from other countries, along with technical experts from international organizations, including the IMF.

The United Nations Statistical Division (UNSD), as chair of the Technical Sub-Group on the Movement of Natural Persons (TSGMNP), presented a paper on the work of the TSGMNP in developing a statistical framework for the measurement of the economic impacts related to the movement of persons. The framework proposed is based on the *BPM5* and the *System of National Accounts, 1993 (1993 SNA)*. The Committee felt that the TSGMNP was the appropriate body to carry forward work on developing statistical standards for remittances.

The Heavily Indebted Poor Countries (HIPCs)

The Committee considered a paper from the IMF on the statistical treatment of transactions and positions between residents and nonresidents arising from the HIPC Initiative. As the HIPC Initiative was launched well after the publication of *BPM5*, there has been concern among compilers that the current framework does not adequately address some of the HIPC debt-related transactions. Among the principal areas of concern is the importance of correctly treating transfers to ensure that the saving behavior recorded by the parties involved is not presented in a manner that might be misleading for economic analysis and policymaking.

The Committee found the paper to be very valuable in addressing many of the issues that need clarification. A further paper providing methodological guidance on the specific issues raised will be considered at the Committee's next meeting.

International Financial Statistics

The Committee was informed about the international financial statistics maintained by the Bank for International Settlements (BIS). As of end-2004, the BIS will be collecting enhanced consolidated banking data that will be more detailed and comprehensive on country risk exposures on an ultimate risk basis, including exposures from derivative instruments. For data on foreign exchange and derivatives markets, the Committee was advised that a record 52 countries participated in the 2004 BIS triennial survey. Preliminary results were released on the BIS website (http://www.bis.org) in September and December 2004, and final results were available in March 2005. The BIS also collects and publishes statistics on most over-the-counter (OTC) financial derivatives on a semi-annual basis, covering stock data on notional and market values on a consolidated basis from approximately 60 major dealers in the G-10.

The Committee was informed that the BIS makes its securities database available, without charge, on its website. The database covers most international securities, but the coverage of domestic securities is not as comprehensive: at present, 42 jurisdictions (mostly central banks) provide data on domestic issues. These data are compared with various other data sources to maximize the data quality.

Other Issues

The Committee also received papers on: (i) establishment of a revisions policy for India's balance of payments data; (ii) developments in the United States toward the collection of data on financial derivatives; (iii) development of Japan's internet reporting system; (iv) reengineering of the collection and processing of business statistics at the Australian Bureau of Statistics; (v) a series of seminars in 2005 on the data template on international reserves and foreign currency liquidity to review experiences; and (vi) a report on the work of the Interagency Task Force on Finance Statistics. The Committee was also given a presentation on the evolution of the French reporting system since the inception of the European Economic and Monetary Union (EMU).

III. Recent Trends in Global Balance of Payments Statistics

Initial estimates of the discrepancies in the aggregations of the global current and financial accounts were considerably narrower in 2003 than in 2002 (Tables 1 and 2). However, significant underlying imbalances remained. In principle, the combined surpluses and deficits (for the current, capital, and financial accounts) for all countries and international organizations should sum to zero, as the credits of one country or international organization are the debits of another. In practice, however, as a result of measurement differences, the data do not offset each other. The discrepancies reflect incomplete coverage of transactions, inaccurate or inconsistent recording by the compiling countries (or the reporters), and different classifications or timing for transactions. Moreover, many errors and omissions may offset each other so that the data in Tables 1 and 2 may not capture the full extent of mismatches. On the other hand, because transactions in the financial account are recorded on a "net:gross" basis (that is, sales and purchases of assets are netted against each other, as are transactions in liabilities, but transactions in assets are not netted against transactions in liabilities), the actual volume of cross-border transactions in such categories as portfolio investment and other investment is much larger than the values shown in Table 2.2

²Data on "gross:gross" transactions for the financial account (that is, the recording of all transactions in the financial account on the same basis as the current account) are not compiled under *BPM5*.

	1997	1998	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	Absolute Average Discrepanc 1997–2003
Current account balance	15.8	-59.1	-101.8	-125.7	-128.9	-101.1	-37.0	81.3
Goods balance	115.8	67.9	42.1	10.3	-6.9	35.6	66.5	49.3
Credit	5,563.1	5,452.1	5,654.9	6,377.2		6,393.8	7,443.5	
Debit	5,447.4	5,384.2	5,612.8	6,366.9	6,122.7	6,358.3	7,377.1	
Services balance	-8.5	-1.5	-13.5	-13.8	-18.4	-9.2	4.9	10.0
Credit	1,363.4	1,389.3	1,436.0	1,521.3	1,527.3	1,638.5	1,858.8	
Debit	1,371.9	1,390.8	1,449.5	1,535.1	1,545.8	1,647.6	1,853.9	
Transportation	-55.0	-52.4	-50.6	-63.7	-58.7	-54.0	-66.7	57.3
Travel	25.2	27.6	28.0	31.2	28.8	30.3	34.4	29.4
Government services	-13.8	-8.3	-17.9	-25.2	-26.1	-33.3	-33.0	22.5
Other services	35.1	31.6	27.1	43.9	37.6	47.9	70.2	41.9
ncome balance	-66.5	-93.5	-97.0	-78.7	-77.2	-103.9	-76.0	84.7
Credit	1,105.5	1,205.7	1,246.3	1,423.0	1,328.9	1,250.7	1,423.5	
Debit	1,172.0	1,299.2	1,343.3	1,501.7	1,406.1	1,354.7	1,499.5	
Compensation of employees	1.5	-0.5	-0.3	-1.5	-3.3	-3.1	-3.1	1.9
Reinvested earnings	56.7	36.1	72.0	67.1	103.1	73.3	110.2	74.1
Other direct investment income	-0.2	-1.9	-37.7	-34.7	-42.4	-31.9	-50.4	28.5
Portfolio and other investment income	-124.5	-127.2	-131.1	-109.5	-134.6	-142.2	-132.6	128.8
urrent transfers balance	-25.0	-32.0	-33.4	-43.5	-26.3	-23.5	-32.3	30.9
Credit	355.5	369.3	376.6	361.2	381.3	423.1	492.3	
Debit	380.5	401.3	410.0	404.7	407.7	446.7	524.6	
lemorandum items								
Current account balance as percent of gross								
current account transactions	0.1	0.3	0.6	0.6	0.7	0.5	0.2	0.4
loods balance as percent of gross goods								
transactions	1.1	0.6	0.4	0.1	0.1	0.3	0.4	0.4
ervices balance as percent of gross services								
transactions	0.3	0.1	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.3	0.1	0.3
ncome balance as percent of gross income								
transactions	2.9	3.7	3.7	2.7	2.8	4.0	2.6	3.2
Current transfers balance as percent of gross								
current transfer transactions	3.4	4.2	4.2	5.7	3.3	2.7	3.2	3.8
Capital account balance as a percentage of								
gross capital account transactions	3.0	14.2	14.9	10.5	4.4	9.2	12.2	9.8

Global Current Account

The level of the discrepancy in the current account in 2003 of negative \$37 billion was the lowest since 1997.³ However, the aggregate masks some larger discrepancies in the components, which tend to offset each other. The discrepancy on goods, at positive \$67 billion, was the

highest since 1998, and although the credits and debits in services were nearly in balance (as they generally are), the subaggregates showed large, and growing, discrepancies in value terms: the imbalances on *transportation*, *travel*, and *other services* were all records, negative \$67 billion, positive \$34 billion, and, positive \$70 billion, respectively. In addition, the imbalance of *government services*, at negative \$33 billion, remained very close to its record level of 2002. For *income*, the overall imbalance, at negative \$76 billion, fell from the very high level of

 $^{^{3}\}mathrm{A}$ negative imbalance indicates that more debits than credits were recorded.

	1997	1998	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	Absolute Average Discrepanc 1997–2003
Capital account balance	3.0	-15.0	-17.1	13.3	-4.9	-11.8	-15.3	11.5
Credit	51.4	45.1	48.8	70.3	53.1	58.2	55.1	
Debit	48.4	60.1	65.8	56.9	58.0	70.0	70.5	
Financial account balance	108.0	-0.6	46.2	236.5	177.0	189.0	44.4	114.6
Direct investment	22.5	11.7	18.8	187.6	78.6	59.6	-61.1	62.8
Abroad	-443.6		-1,078.2			-643.0		
In the reporting economy	466.1		1,097.0	,	789.9	702.6	553.9	
Portfolio investment	203.4	-197.6	148.7	80.5	47.4	202.8	180.4	151.5
Assets	-739.3	-1,046.6	-1,362.1	-1,301.4	-1,197.4	-674.2	-1,276.2	
Liabilities excluding LCFAR ¹	942.7		1,510.8				1,456.7	
Liabilities including LCFAR	963.7		1,606.3		1,311.5			
LCFAR in Portfolio investment ²	-21.0	-79.7	-95.4	-129.1	-66.7	-172.8	-230.4	
Financial derivatives	-6.6	-13.0		-14.8	7.6	-8.8	-7.4	10.4
Assets	148.2	186.9		228.5	234.6	202.8	261.7	
Liabilities	-154.7	-199.8	-180.7	-243.3	-227.0	-211.6	-269.1	
Other investment	-65.0	210.2	-122.3	36.4	79.6	-30.3	-38.8	83.2
Assets	-1,322.9	-345.5		-1,278.8	-717.1		-1,040.1	
Liabilities excluding LCFAR ¹	1,258.0	555.7		1,315.2	796.7		1,001.3	
Liabilities including LCFAR	1,296.7	506.4		1,306.5			1,244.8	
LCFAR in Other Investment ²	-38.7	49.4	-42.8	8.7	-52.3	-63.5	-243.5	
Reserves plus LCFAR	-46.3	-12.0		-53.1	-36.1	-34.3	-28.8	32.0
Reserves	-106.0	-42.3		-173.5	-155.1		-502.7	
LCFAR	59.8	30.3	138.3	120.4	119.0	236.2	473.9	
Net errors and omissions	-126.8	74.7	72.7	-124.2	-43.2	-76.2	7.9	75.1

Table 2. Global Balances on Capital and Financial Accounts, 1997–2003 (In billions of U.S. dollars)

Source: IMF, Balance of Payments Statistics Yearbook, Volume 55, Part 2 (Washington: International Monetary Fund, 2004).

Note: In the financial account, a negative sign indicates an excess of recorded outflows: the absence of a sign in the balances indicates an excess of recorded inflows over outflows.

¹Liabilities constituting foreign authorities' reserves. The data in liabilities constituting foreign authorities' reserves were derived from information collected by the IMF from a sample of large reserve-holding countries. These data were used to adjust portfolio and other investment liabilities to align the data better with corresponding assets series.

²Table 2 also includes the global balance on net errors and omissions.

the previous year, but the imbalances on *reinvested earnings* (positive \$110 billion) and *other direct investment income* (negative \$50 billion) were record highs. Moreover, while the imbalance on *portfolio and other investment income* fell somewhat from the record high in 2002, it remained high (at close to the seven-year average of negative \$129 billion). At negative \$32 billion, the discrepancy in *current transfers* was also close to the sevenyear average.

Another way of looking at the data is to express the discrepancy as a percentage of total transactions. Viewed in this manner, a somewhat different picture appears, as can be seen from the memorandum items to Table 1. The imbalance on the current account amounted to 0.2 percent, its lowest level since 1997, and the discrepancy in services, at 0.1 percent of total transactions in services, was the lowest since 1998. Even though the imbalance on goods amounted to 0.4 percent of total transactions, the highest percentage since 1999, this should be seen in the light of the total value of recorded transactions in goods, which reached a record in 2003, rising to 16 percent, after having shown little growth for the previous two years.

Global Capital and Financial Accounts

The statistical discrepancy in the capital account in 2003 widened for the second successive year, reaching negative \$15 billion, or 12 percent of total transactions in the account. For the most part, the value of debits in this account tends to be higher than the value of credits (1997

and 2000 are the exceptions during the period shown in Table 2). A possible reason for this bias may be related to debt forgiveness—one of the major items in this account—because creditors and debtors may record the debt forgiveness in different time periods or with different values. Some issues related to debt forgiveness are considered in Section IV (see The HIPC Initiative).

For the financial account, the aggregate discrepancy, at positive \$44 billion in 2003, fell to its lowest level since 1998. However, within the financial account, large discrepancies remained. For the first time since 1995, recorded direct investment debits (i.e., direct investment abroad) was higher than recorded direct investment credits (i.e., direct investment in the reporting economy). Direct investment flows can be subdivided into two components: reinvested earnings and other direct investment transactions. The imbalance on reinvested earnings (which, with the sign reversed is the same as reinvested earnings in "income" in Table 1) reached negative \$110 billion in 2003, a substantial increase from 2002, and well above the seven-year average of negative \$74 billion. On the other hand, other direct investment transactions had an imbalance of positive \$49 billion in 2003, a substantial reduction from the positive imbalances of the previous three years, the average of which is \$187 billion.

Portfolio investment continued to record the largest discrepancies in the financial account in absolute terms in 2003. While this discrepancy fell somewhat, to positive \$180 billion, from the record imbalance of \$202 billion in 2002, it remained at an elevated level. However, as noted, if the total value of gross cross-border transactions in portfolio investment were available, it is probable that the imbalance would be a very small percentage of that total. With the exception of 1998, the imbalances for this series have been consistently positive, that is, the value of net transactions in liabilities has been larger than those in net assets. This bias in the data was examined by the Final Report of the Working Party on the Measurement of International Capital Flows (Godeaux Report) that analyzed discrepancies in the (then) capital (now financial) account. The Godeaux Report gave rise to the creation of the Committee, and one of the earliest actions of the Committee was to initiate the CPIS. As the CPIS (which is discussed more fully below) becomes better established over time, and as its coverage extends in terms of both sectors captured and countries participating, the quality of positions data globally will improve, with commensurate effects on transactions data (and the associated income items).

For the rest of the financial account, the discrepancies were quite small in comparison. For *financial deriva-tives*, the discrepancy was negative \$7 billion in 2003, lit-

tle changed from 2002. However, as financial derivatives are often recorded on a net:net basis (that is, transactions in assets are netted against transactions in liabilities) by the compiling economy, imbalances in this series should be viewed with caution. For other investment, the global discrepancy was negative \$39 billion, up somewhat from the imbalance in 2002, but substantially lower than the discrepancies in 1998 (positive \$210 billion) and 1999 (negative \$122 billion). The volatility of the imbalances in other investment has declined considerably since then. Over the last four years, while the arithmetic mean was \$12 billion, the absolute average discrepancy was \$46 billion, reflecting the two years with a positive imbalance in 2000 and 2001, followed by two years with negative imbalances. For reserve assets plus liabilities constituting foreign authorities' reserves, the imbalance was \$29 billion, in line with the average for the last seven years.

Revisions

Revisions to prior years have generally had the effect of increasing the current and financial account discrepancies; there has been little impact on the capital account. Revisions are a normal part of the process of production of statistics: they can result from refinement of earlier estimates (which may have been based on limited information), receipt of more complete estimates (for example, from customs or other administrative sources), changes in methodology, or the correction of errors.

For the current account, the absolute average imbalances for the six years from 1997 to 2002 were revised upwards from \$76 billion to \$81 billion. This increase was prompted by revisions to all series. Notably, the positive imbalances to goods in 2000 and 2002 were revised down,⁴ while changes to other series tended to increase the negative imbalances. For example, the discrepancy in income in 2002 rose by \$13 billion, largely as the result of a reduced positive imbalance for reinvested earnings and larger negative imbalances for income on other direct investment, portfolio investment, and other investment. Revisions to this last series were also a major factor in revising upwards the overall imbalances on income and the current account in 2000. The services imbalance saw little change for most of these years, although there were offsetting revisions to many of the components for several years.

In the financial account, the absolute average discrepancy for the years 1997 to 2002 rose \$20 billion as a result

 $^{^{4}\}mathrm{In}$ 2001, the revisions led to debits exceeding credits for the first time in the series.

of revisions to prior years' data, with the imbalance deteriorating in all years except 1998. The largest increases were in 2000 and 2002. Most of the changes for these two years were the result of an increase in the positive discrepancy in *direct investment*, coupled with a drop of \$57 billion in the negative imbalance in *other investment* in 2002. The other series saw only small changes.

IV. Work Program Undertaken by the Committee in 2004

The work undertaken by the Committee in 2004 reflected the priorities established in the medium-term work program at the end of 2003. Top priority was given to updating the BPM5, the feasibility of conducting a CDIS, and issues related to data quality. Portfolio investment was a high-priority topic, including reverse transactions, investment vehicles, and the treatment in the balance of payments and the international investment position (IIP) of HIPCs. The Committee reviewed issues relating to global discrepancies in balance of payments data; the treatment of central clearing houses; the reporting of external debt data within the context of the IIP, based on the External Debt Guide; implementation of the Manual on Statistics of International Trade in Services; the extent to which countries report balance of payments data to the IMF's STA on the basis of the classification system of BPM5; and the use and improvement of international financial statistics. In addition, the Committee received papers on reporting systems (from France and Japan), data processing (from Australia), and on the new U.S. collection system for the measurement of transactions and positions in financial derivatives (from the United States).

Revision to BPM5

At its 2003 meeting, the Committee considered a draft annotated outline (AO) for revising *BPM5*, prepared by IMF staff. An earlier version of the AO had been sent for comments to the Committee, the InterSecretariat Working Group on National Accounts, and other interested parties. The comments from these various bodies were incorporated into the revised AO. At its 2003 meeting, the Committee endorsed STA's proposal that the AO be circulated in early 2004 to all interested parties, with comments due by mid–2004. English as well as in Arabic, Chinese, French, Russian, and Spanish.

The AO sets out, in considerable detail, a series of proposals for modifying the structure and some of the concepts in *BPM5*. The document also asks a number of questions, seeking input on the proposed changes and possible alternatives. Thirty-three countries and several international organizations provided comments on the proposed changes to *BPM5*. A paper summarizing these responses can be found on the Committee's web page. Most of the proposals were supported (see also the Committee's decisions below), in many instances, very strongly.

The Committee made decisions on several of the recommendations (Box 1) of the three TEGs that had been set up in 2004, following the Committee's endorsement of an IMF staff proposal at the 2003 meeting of the Committee to create these groups to address some of the more complex technical issues. These TEGs are: Direct Investment Technical Expert Group (DITEG),5 Currency Union Technical Expert Group (CUTEG), and Balance of Payments Technical Expert Group (BOPTEG), the latter of which addresses issues not covered by the other two groups. (See Box 2 for TEG members.) The TEGs each met once before the Committee meeting and made recommendations to the Committee on several of the issues they had been requested to consider. Each TEG met again to develop a further set of recommendations; all three TEGs met in December 2004, and DITEG met a third time in March 2005. The Committee will consider all the TEGs' further recommendations at its 2005 meeting. DITEG completed its work. BOPTEG and CUTEG may continue to communicate electronically, depending on what issues emerge during the drafting process, and it is possible that one or both of them will meet at a later stage of the new manual's preparation-for example, to review draft chapters relevant to their mandates.

The Committee was informed that the IMF is considering creation of a new TEG for reserve assets. This is a very important and highly specialized topic and

In light of this endorsement by the Committee, early in 2004 the IMF sent the modified version of the AO to all IMF balance of payments correspondents, seeking input on the issues raised. The document was also posted on the Committee's web page (http://:www.imf.org/bop) in

⁵DITEG also reports to the OECD's Workshop on International Investment Statistics (WIIS), as this body has responsibility for updating the third edition of the *Benchmark Definition of Foreign Direct Investment (BD3)*. In order to continue this function, the WIIS has created the Benchmark Advisory Group (BAG). Once DITEG's work has been completed, it is planned that BAG will use the agreed outcome to prepare a fourth edition of the Benchmark. Decisions by the WIIS and the Committee therefore will be coordinated to ensure that there is agreement on all issues related to direct investment in the revised Benchmark and the revised balance of payments manual.

Box 1. Some Major Decisions Taken by the Committee Regarding the Revision of the BPM5¹

Guarantees: The Committee agreed with BOPTEG's proposal that the current treatment of guarantees as contingencies be retained and that the activation of a guarantee should be treated as other changes in the volume of assets/liabilities.²

Accrual principle for arrears: The Committee agreed with the proposal that when arrears occur, no transactions should be imputed, but the arrears should continue to be shown in the same instrument until the liability is extinguished. The Committee reinforced the view that data on arrears are important. It was concerned about how the proposals for arrears and non-performing loans could be reconciled.

Loan valuation: The Committee agreed with BOPTEG's proposal to retain nominal value for loans (both assets and liabilities) in the IIP, with a memorandum item for the creditor, showing the likely realizable value.

Change in economic ownership: The Committee agreed with an IMF staff proposal to adopt the concept of "change in economic ownership" (instead of "change of ownership") as better reflecting the nature of transactions that are recorded in the balance of payments.

Goods for processing: The Committee agreed with BOPTEG's proposal to change the treatment—so that the economic ownership principle should be adopted. This would mean that goods for processing would be measured by the processing fee and be treated as a service, not as a good.^{3, 4}

Multiterritory enterprises: The Committee agreed with BOPTEG's proposal that the current treatment in *BPM5* be generalized to all enterprises where identification of separate units in different economies is not possible. For joint sovereignty zones, the Committee agreed that guidance should be provided in the new manual, but flexibility should be allowed.

Institutional sectors: The Committee agreed with BOPTEG's proposal to include all the national accounts' institutional sectors in the new manual, but that the presentation should be done in such a fashion as to ease the transition from the four sectors shown in *BPM5*.

Residence of households: The Committee agreed with BOPTEG's proposal to adopt the concept of "predominant"

center of economic interest. The Committee did not agree that a strict application of the "one-year" rule should be applied to students.

Special purpose entities (SPEs): The Committee agreed with BOPTEG's and DITEG's proposal that SPEs are to be recognized as separate institutional units in the economy in which they are incorporated. As there is no international definition for SPEs, the Committee agreed that compilers may wish to present supplementary data using national definitions, where these entities are important.

Classification of services: The Committee agreed with BOPTEG's proposals that (i) *goods for repair* should be changed from goods to a service; (ii) additional detail on *travel* be included on a supplementary basis; (iii) *communication* and *computing services* be combined, provided that *postal and courier services* are classified separately; (iv) *construction services* be shown with an additional split, to identify construction services abroad separately from construction services in the compiling economy; (v) the treatment of *financial services* be harmonized, in line with developments at the OECD and the AEG, to the extent possible; (vi) international passengers services should remain in *transportation services*; and (vii) use of a residual category for services transactions between related enterprises be avoided.

Valuation of direct investment equity: The Committee agreed with DITEG's proposal that market price should be the preferred valuation principle for direct investment equity, and that that principle be given greater emphasis than it received in *BPM5*.

Direct investment 10 percent threshold: The Committee rejected DITEG's proposal to move the threshold for establishing a direct investment relationship from 10 percent equity (or equivalent) to 20 percent.

Treatment of insurance catastrophic claims: The Committee rejected the IMF staff proposal to retain the treatment of insurance claims as being *current transfers* for catastrophic claims, preferring to adopt the proposal by the AEG that these latter claims should be classified to the capital account.

Fully Consolidated System (FCS): The Committee agreed with DITEG's proposal that the FCS represents the ideal concept of indirect direct investment relationships but noted that it should be explained more fully in the new balance of payments manual.⁵

Headings and signs: The Committee agreed with IMF staff proposed changes to the presentation of the headings in the financial and other changes in financial assets and liabilities accounts to "changes in assets" and "changes to liabilities" to bring them into line with the IIP and the national accounts.

¹The issues papers, describing the issues in greater depth, and the outcome papers, outlining the reasoning for the TEGs' recommendations, can be found on the Committee's web page (http//: www.imf.org.bop).

²The Committee also agreed that the broader issue of risk transfer should be referred to the Task Force on the Harmonization of Public Sector Statistics.

³This decision is to be referred to the Advisory Expert Group on National Accounts (AEG), who are reviewing possible changes to the *1993 SNA*. Should this proposal not be agreed to by the AEG, the matter will be reconsidered by the Committee.

⁴The Committee also decided to leave the treatment of re-exports and goods in transit unchanged.

⁵The Committee will reconsider the different approaches to measurement of indirect direct investment relationships at its meeting in 2005, following further work by DITEG.

Box 2. Countries and International Organizations that Have Provided Members to the TEGs Set Up by the Committee To Assist It in Its Deliberations on the Revision of *BPM5*

1. Balance of Payments Technical Expert Group (BOPTEG)

Australia	Thailand
Chile	United Kingdom
China, PR	United States
Estonia	Banque Centrale des États de l'Afrique de L'Ouest
	(BCEAO)
Germany	BIS
Japan	ECB
Jordan	Eurostat
Namibia	IMF (chair)
The Netherlands	OECD
Poland	

2. Direct Investment Technical Expert Group (DITEG)*

Australia	South Africa
Belgium	Tunisia
Canada	United Kingdom
Colombia	United States (co-chair)
France	ECB
Hong Kong SAR	Eurostat
Japan	IMF (co-chair)
The Netherlands	OECD
Russian Federation	UNCTAD

3. Currency Union Technical Expert Group (CUTEG)

Czech Republic East Caribbean Central Bank (ECCB)	
Italy Eurostat	
Saudi Arabia IMF (chair)	
BCEAO West African Monetary Institute	
Banque des États de l'Afrique	
Centrale (BEAC)	

*DITEG was set up jointly with the OECD.

involves a different constituency from those represented by the other TEGs—including reserve managers and users of data on reserve assets, as well as balance of payments compilers. These constituents may have to be invited to participate in any such group to ensure that there is the right level of technical expertise to address the issues comprehensively.

The Committee was brought up to date on the revision process for other macroeconomic statistics and manuals. The InterSecretariat Working Group on National Accounts (ISWGNA) has created an Advisory Expert Group on National Accounts (AEG), with a remit similar to the roles of the TEGs for the balance of payments revision that is, the AEG will examine proposed changes and report back to the ISWGNA. The IMF's STA is represented on both the ISWGNA and the AEG, which will foster ready coordination of effort between the reviews of the *1993 SNA* and the *BPM5*. Of the 44 issues being considered by the AEG, many do not have a strong (or any) bearing on the balance of payments or the IIP. Of the recommendations made by the AEG so far (which will go to the ISWGNA for decision), those that do have an impact on the balance of payments are employee stock options (to treat them as compensation of employees and to classify the financial instrument under a new category: *financial derivatives and employee stock options*), and the measurement of insurance services (to adopt an approach using adjusted claims and premium supplements). The Committee was also advised on progress on the review and changes to several other statistical systems that are related to balance of payments statistics and the IIP. These include the trade-in-services manual, the tourism satellite account, and the Central Product Classification (CPC). The expectation is that these documents will be consistent, to the maximum extent possible, with the new balance of payments manual. The work on revising the OECD's *BD3* will commence as soon as the WIIS has considered DITEG's recommendations. The conceptual basis of direct investment in the new balance of payments manual and the revised benchmark will be the same.

The outcomes from the remaining meetings of the TEGs will be considered by the Committee at its meeting in June 2005. In order for the new manual and the revised *1993 SNA* to be prepared at the same time and to be as consistent as possible, the AEG, at its meeting in July 2005, will be asked to consider many of these issues; any issues that the AEG does not consider at that meeting will be carried forward to its next (and presumed final) meeting. In the meantime, the drafting of the new balance of payments manual was to commence early in 2005, so that several draft chapters could be considered by the Committee at its meeting in June 2005.

Portfolio Investment

The Committee was brought up to date on the results of CPISs, as well as work being undertaken to enhance the collection of CPIS data. This work has wider application to other elements in the balance of payments and the IIP, as well as other parts of the suite of macroeconomic statistics. It covers investigations into how to measure reverse transactions (repurchase agreements and securities lending without cash collateral), holdings of securities by nonresident custodians (third-party holdings); and the development of the European Central Bank's (ECB's) Centralized Securities Database (CSDB).

The Coordinated Portfolio Investment Survey

The CPIS, which is coordinated by the IMF's STA, is an international survey of the holdings of portfolio investment assets. The survey provides data on holdings of equity and long-term and short-term debt securities by counterpart jurisdiction of issuer. The survey has been conducted on an annual basis since 2001 (following a limited survey in 1997). participate reflects the benefits that they anticipate will flow from the availability of data on creditor holdings of securities issues. In addition, three countries have agreed to participate on an ongoing basis since the survey became annual.⁶

The data from the survey help to fill an important statistical gap by providing a database that counterpart debtor countries may use to construct estimates of their own outstanding securities liabilities, as well as by assisting other data analysts in understanding this fastgrowing cross-border exposure. Tables 3 and 4 provide, in matrix form, summary results of the 2002 and 2003 CPISs for the ten largest holders and issuers of securities. More detailed results can be found on the IMF website (http://www.imf.org/bop). Total cross-border holdings of securities reported by participants in the 2002 CPIS were \$14,102 billion, and, in 2003, \$18,978 billion (as shown in the cell in the bottom right of each table).

Among the more salient results is the impact of the recent decline of the U.S. dollar on the level and distribution of jurisdictions' holdings of portfolio investment. There was an increase in the level of holdings of portfolio investment by residents of the United States (as the value of their nondollar-denominated holdings increased in dollar terms), as well as an increase (expressed in dollars) in the holdings of securities issued by residents of the euro area. The nature of the survey does not permit a breakdown of the changes in levels between year-ends among transactions, price, and exchange rate changes. However, a Centralized Securities Database (CSDB) will be able to assist with this type of analysis (see below). The role of SEIFiCs is also evident from the results. The combined holdings of portfolio investment assets of The Bahamas, Bermuda, Cayman Islands, Guernsey, the Isle of Man, and Jersey amounted to \$682 billion at end-2003.

Many of the Committee members indicated that they found the CPIS to be a very valuable exercise. Most members of the Committee are from jurisdictions that participate in the CPIS. Some of the benefits they noted included: (i) improvements in the manner in which the data were collected (in a more controlled and detailed

Of the 67 jurisdictions that participated in the 2001 CPIS, all have now agreed to participate on an annual basis. One particularly noteworthy aspect of the CPIS is that about 20 SEIFiCs now take part on a continuing basis. Overall, the willingness of so many countries to

⁶To assist jurisdictions to undertake the survey, a survey guide has been prepared (*Coordinated Portfolio Investment Survey Guide*, Washington: IMF, 2001, 2d ed.). The guide sets out the purpose and conceptual underpinnings of the survey, and offers advice to compilers (such as how to establish a survey frame; how to develop contacts with respondents; software requirements; how to address low or nonresponse rates; what data validation procedures might be put in place; follow up with respondents; and data release). The guide has also been translated into French, Spanish, Arabic, Russian, and Chinese. These documents are available from STA upon request. PDF versions of the document can be found on the IMF's website at http://www.imf. external/np/sta/pi/cpisgd.htm.

Investment from:	-	0	ო	4	5	9	7	80	0	10		Total
/	United		United									value of
Investment in:	States	Japan	Kingdom	France	Luxembourg Germany	g Germany	r Italy	Ireland	Netherlands	Switzerland	d Other	investment
1 United States	:	499,048	338,038	124,198	176,180	103,211	70,609	179,420	147,061	80,175	1,542,084	3,260,023
2 United Kingdom	494,639	94,846	:	79,524	65,533	73,186	32,925	120,601	49,758	25,748	342,285	1,379,043
3 Germany	130,954	121,007	127,837	123,368	171,262	:	56,461	45,670	106,095	61,702	421,866	1,366,221
4 France	134,989	66,552	95,402	:	69,241	80,253	53,984	25,448	53,536	33,661	239,069	852,134
5 Netherlands	138,711	41,959	80,322	116,055	62,918	104,411	54,150	14,220	:	43,122	165,356	821,225
6 Italy	47,600	45,214	106,604	119,196	67,165	98,232	:	37,216	52,751	8,444	155,247	737,670
7 Luxembourg	14,207	55,799	25,844	38,865	:	124,146	146,750	13,024	8,263	81,969	140,113	648,980
8 Cayman Islands	87,488	175,166	50,693	28,845	24,447	18,143	13,002	8,170	4,368	15,423	109,105	534,848
9 Japan	195,439	:	82,281	16,972	22,832	17,459	8,637	11,227	12,054	10,263	133,112	510,275
10 Canada	230,841	22,826	19,248	10,258	11,597	5,286	2,127	7,672	2,989	6,840	37,567	357,251
Other	771,166	272,101	451,797	274,596	252,225	273,506	157,414	111,162	133,129	153,438	783,295	3,633,832
Total value of investment	2,246,034 1,394,520	1,394,520	1,378,066	931,876	923,399	897,832	596,058	573,831	570,003	520,785	4,069,098	4,069,098 14,101,502

Investment from:	1 United	2 United	ю	4	5	9	7	8	6	10		Total value of
Investment in:	States	Kingdom	Japan	France	France Luxembourg Germany Ireland	Germany	Ireland	Italy	Netherlands Switzerland	Switzerland	Other	investment
1 United States	:	431,712	620,208	152,142	228,397	133,346	222,525	98,845	217,186	95,804	1,925,825	4,125,990
2 United Kingdom	663,120	:	99,549	126,423	97,915	77,394	156,028	42,275	74,170	32,985	451,908	1,821,769
3 Germany	186,611	118,800	154,751	187,322	203,082	:	69,664	95,825	143,645	82,227	571,608	1,813,535
4 France	183,425	123,894	90,335	:	108,859	122,169	51,017	73,902	73,952	43,867	422,684	1,294,104
5 Netherlands	182,193	108,965	61,329	170,676	80,118	142,948	31,839	62,841	:	53,017	222,469	1,116,394
6 Italy	66,931	113,048	58,380	181,368	99,642	109,505	65,901	:	51,801	9,455	215,531	971,561
7 Luxembourg	23,383	38,715	53,843	50,429	:	171,140	7,460	189,594	11,926	105,622	194,906	847,019
8 Japan	291,850	118,497	:	29,881	40,836	25,764	17,657	11,683	18,623	12,306	168,793	735,890
9 Cayman Islands	124,972	57,731	205,569	42,694	34,053	19,702	10,170	19,325	9,767	20,545	157,914	702,442
10 Spain	51,547	35,696	21,760	108,278	33,903	78,382	26,826	15,750	26,933	4,716	75,991	479,781
Other	1,360,212	582,456	355,590	317,789	352,724	324,778	152,557	181,025	154,591	193,887	1,093,900	5,069,509
Total value of investment	3,134,244 1,729,	515	1,721,314 1	,367,007	1,721,314 1,367,007 1,279,529 1,205,127	,205,127	811,644	791,064	782,593	654,432	5,501,530	5,501,530 18,977,993

fashion); (ii) use of the counterpart asset data (to compare with their own liabilities data; given that the geographical breakdown of liabilities is hard to estimate from more standard sources of data, the derived liabilities were felt to be particularly valuable); (iii) the economic reality reflected in the data (i.e., during 2001 and 2002, when there had been accommodative monetary policies in most countries, there were rising bond prices); (iv) evidence of "round tripping" (wherein funds return to the jurisdiction in which they originate—a phenomenon related to, and highlighting, the role of international financial centers).⁷ It was also felt that the data would become increasingly important as the time series develops.

The Committee was advised that a considerable amount of work undertaken to analyze cross-border portfolio investment has made use of the CPIS, with much of this work being done at the IMF (in departments other than STA). To make greater use of this very rich database, the Bank of Spain plans to hold a conference, in cooperation with the IMF, in late November 2005 on the uses of the CPIS data. It is intended that the conference will include both users and compilers.

The Committee noted the link between the CPIS and the possible CDIS (see below) from both a collection and an analytical perspective and with a beneficial impact on the quality of both. The Committee also felt that the CPIS could serve as a model for a CDIS.

As part of its ongoing attempts to involve as many jurisdictions as possible in the CPIS, the Committee was advised of two workshops conducted by STA during 2004. One workshop was held for SEIFiCs in Guernsey in May. STA aims, to the maximum extent possible, to assist these jurisdictions, in view of their limited resource base and their importance in the survey. The other workshop was held in Beirut in June for members of the Arab League, following a similar workshop held in the same location in 2003. Funding for the workshops was provided by the government of Japan through the Japan Administered Account for Selected Fund Activities. The workshops were designed to provide compilers with the opportunity to exchange their experiences in conducting the 2002 CPIS; to encourage broader participation in the CPIS; to see how the survey might be conducted more efficiently and effectively; to establish a network of contacts among the compilers; and to outline the plans for the 2003 and 2004 surveys. At these workshops, some attendees that do not presently participate in the CPIS in-

⁷The existence of round tripping can only be implied from the results of the CPIS as the data themselves do not provide sources; they only indicate where the funds have been invested. dicated that they would be prepared to do so in the near future, while others indicated that they were considering expanding their present coverage.

In order to obtain as comprehensive a picture as possible of cross-border asset holdings of securities, and to enable construction of counterpart liabilities, comparable information to the CPIS is necessary on securities held as reserve assets and securities assets of international organizations, as these assets, by definition, are not included in countries' holdings of portfolio investment assets. To this end, STA conducts two annual surveys, Survey of Securities Held as Foreign Exchange Reserves (SEFER) and Survey of Securities Held by International Organizations (SSIO). The results of these surveys are available on the IMF's website (http://www.imf.org/bop). These data form an integral part of the overall results of the surveys on cross-border holdings of securities.

In line with STA's view that all data should be supported by metadata (to explain to users such elements as the survey methodology employed, the survey frame, the response rate, and other related issues), all jurisdictions that participated in the CPIS were asked to complete a metadata questionnaire. Sixty-four jurisdictions did so. The results of this questionnaire have been disseminated via the IMF's website. The information will be valuable in analysis of the results, in the exchange of information among the participating countries, and for users and compilers.

Third-Party Holdings

At its 2004 meeting, the Committee considered a report from the Technical Group on Third-Party Holdings (TGTPH). This group had been set up by the Committee in 2000, with a remit to examine how third-party holdings (TPHs) might be captured in official statistics. TPHs are securities that have been placed with a custodian resident in one jurisdiction directly by end-investors resident in another jurisdiction. It is likely that there are many TPHs, especially by households or small or medium-sized enterprises (SMEs), involving substantial amounts of securities. As such holdings lie outside the scope of balance of payments and IIP statistics of the economy of the custodians' jurisdiction, and as households and SMEs are usually not covered in surveys of end-investors, these holdings are likely to be missed in countries' IIPs and their CPISs.

In its initial work, the TGTPH found that (i) there were many different types of business models used by custodians, so that there was no simple approach that would permit these holdings to be readily identified; (ii) there were often multiple custodian chains, so that there were major risks of double counting; and, as a result, (iii) the focus of any further work should be on high-worth individuals, as this would likely present less risk of double counting and as custodian records might be more readily usable for statistical purposes.

The Committee agreed, at its meeting in 2003, to a proposal by the TGTPH that the next step was to explore how TPHs might be identified by those few jurisdictions with major international custodial businesses. In view of the highly concentrated nature of the custodial industry, it is expected that a very high proportion of TPHs of high-worth individuals could be captured from custodians in only a few jurisdictions. To that end, the ECB, following on earlier work undertaken by a task force of the ECB and its member states,⁸ hosted a meeting in May 2004 at which balance of payments compilers from most of the major centers with large custodial business were present.

At that meeting, participants noted that there are very few data at present and that it was unclear whether they had the legal authority to collect these data. In order to understand the issues more fully, participants were asked to explore with their custodians and private banks how such information might be obtained.

Exploration of these issues subsequent to the meeting at the ECB has not been very encouraging. Initial indications of size and availability of these data have been disappointing, especially as contacts with private banks and custodians indicate that households that use custodial services outside their jurisdiction of residence are likely to place their assets in a trust or some other legal device, making it very difficult to separate them from other nonhousehold trusts and investment vehicles.

In view of the difficulties the TGTPH has encountered in obtaining these data, further work will await the results of the 2003 portfolio investment liabilities survey in the United States. These data will provide, for the first time, estimates of the holdings of U.S. securities that are held by nonresident households, broken down by jurisdiction of residence.⁹ If nonresident households are shown to directly have substantial holdings in U.S. securities, this will be an important indication that such holdings may be substantial for other countries as well. If the results do not indicate that nonresident households are major investors in U.S. securities, it is probable that no further work will be undertaken on TPHs in light of other pressing issues.

Reverse Transactions

The Committee has on many occasions discussed reverse transactions (repurchase agreements, securities lending without cash collateral, gold swaps, and gold loans or deposits), reflecting their importance, their complexity, and the difficulty in measuring them. Reverse transactions have grown rapidly in volume and complexity in recent years, as financial markets around the world have come to use them much more extensively and effectively.

In view of the problems in measuring reverse transactions, the Committee felt that it was necessary to determine the extent to which supplementary information was available (on sector of the counterparty and the issuer of the security for repurchase agreements and securities lending) and to determine how to classify the payment made by the asset taker for the use of the asset in a securities lending arrangement or in gold loans/deposits. To address these issues, the Technical Group on Reverse Transactions (TGRT) was set up in 2001. The group comprised representatives of nine economies (Belgium, Hong Kong SAR, Japan, Portugal, South Africa, Spain, Switzerland, the United Kingdom, and the United States), the IMF, the ECB, and the BIS. The TGRT's mandate was to explore how the reporting of reverse transactions can be improved (for monetary statistics, for flow of funds accounts, and for sectoral balance sheets, as well as for balance of payments and IIP statistics), bearing in mind the Committee's decision on the appropriate treatment.

As a first step, in 2002 the TGRT undertook a survey of a selection of end-investors, custodians, brokers/dealers, and fund managers in the TGRT participants' economies to determine whether these institutions' information systems could readily identify when reverse transactions occur. The results of this survey were presented to the Committee at its meeting in 2003. Among the important results were: (i) the introduction by financial institutions in the United States of a new reporting system that allows the identification of reverse transactions; and (ii) indications by a significant minority of respondents that they record repurchase agreements as both a collateralized loan and a transaction in the underlying security (the socalled four-entry recording).

The Committee found these to be important developments and requested that the TGRT explore them further. The TGRT found that the financial institutions in the United States that have developed and are using the software to identify reverse transactions have decided not to generalize the application, so that, for example, transactions in U.S. Treasury securities will not be covered. At the same time, it appears that these financial institutions

⁸See http://www.ecb.int/pub/pdf/other/portfolioinvestmenttaskforce 200206en.pdf.

⁹The country breakdown of nonresident households' holdings may indicate a bias to countries with major financial centers, where trading will take place, and may not always reflect the residence of the investor.

do not wish to make the software available to other financial institutions in other jurisdictions.

The TGRT also developed a questionnaire to follow up on the results of the earlier questionnaire that indicated a significant minority used the four-entry recording and developed a set of examples of how this approach would work. These examples brought out very clearly the complexity of their application. Moreover, on further review, the TGRT considered that there remained too many gaps and problems in the application of the four-entry recording. As a result, the TGRT proposed, and the Committee agreed, that the TGRT should hold a meeting in 2005 (it has previously operated entirely electronically) to resolve these issues, so as to make a recommendation for the treatment of these transactions in time for the new balance of payments manual and the revised 1993 SNA. It was considered that such a meeting should also involve monetary and financial statisticians.

As part of its remit, the TGRT also examined the role of central clearing houses (CCHs) in tripartite repurchase agreements. These institutions, among other things, are principal to all transactions that pass through them, and so they are the counterparty to all parties involved. In this manner, they represent an important potential source of information on the counterparties and the underlying securities involved in reverse transactions, and as they become more important in these transactions, much of the information presently unavailable will become more readily available. A paper from the Bank of England was discussed at the Committee's 2004 meeting. This paper sets out a work plan to find out more about the nature, role, and operations of CCHs.

Global Securities Databases

From previous work on the CPIS, it has become evident to the Committee that there is considerable interest in the development of a global securities database (GSDB). Such a database would be multidimensional, with information on such variables as the security's name; identification number (such as its ISIN: International Security Identification Number); sector and jurisdiction of the issuer; amount; date of issue; currency and coupon (if any); maturity date(s); and, possibly, the sector of the holder. Price information would also be included. The applications for a GSDB are potentially very wide: in addition to the CPIS (for which it would assist those countries compiling security by security), it could be used for balance of payments (to estimate portfolio investment transactions), external debt, data template on international reserves and foreign currency liquidity, monetary statistics, flow of funds tables, sectoral balance sheets in the national accounts, and financial soundness indicators.

As part of its overall work on improving the quality of portfolio investment in the euro area, the ECB has been developing a Centralized Security Database, and the Committee was brought up to date on this CSDB, which contains all the features noted above, plus several more. Preliminary production started in early December 2004, but it would take several months to make sure that the data are consistent. The Committee was informed that, toward the end of April 2005, most of the large outliers were to be identified and that these would then be checked with the national central banks of the European System of Central Banks (ESCB) and the BIS. Contacts are also foreseen with the U.S. Federal Reserve System and the Bank of Japan. In due course, other central banks (outside those already involved) may be granted access to the CSDB. Of particular importance to the CPIS would be information on prices and exchange rates; it was felt that, for analytical purposes, it would be very useful to separate holdings in mutual funds from other types of equity, especially in countries where mutual funds play a major role. The Committee was advised that all members of the euro area should be using the security-by-security approach to the measurement of portfolio investment (quarterly) stocks by 2008.

In addition to the ECB's database, the BIS has maintained a securities database for many years, primarily for international securities but increasingly for domestic securities as well. The Committee was advised that the coverage of international securities is good (with data coming from commercial providers) but that the coverage of national securities on issue is currently limited to 42 countries. Data quality on securities has improved as the frequency of reconciliation of data from commercial providers has increased to a quarterly basis. Sector classification has also improved, with public and private splits now available for banks, nonbank financial institutions, and other businesses. Time series on international securities have been improved, having been carried back to 1966.

Direct Investment

Survey on Implementation of Methodological Standards for Direct Investment

Following the success of the 2001 Survey on Implementation of Methodological Standards for Direct Investment (SIMSDI), at its meeting in 2002 the Committee¹⁰ gave its support for the IMF and the OECD to conduct another survey, as of end-2003. The aim of the SIMSDI is to

¹⁰The WIIS also approved the proposal.

determine the extent to which countries have adopted international standards for compiling direct investment statistics, as set out in *BPM5* and *BD3*. The results of the 2001 survey are available on the Committee's web page (http://www.imf.org.bop) and have also been published in print.¹¹

Accordingly, a revised questionnaire was sent to 166 countries, 30 OECD member countries and 136 other members of the IMF. The Committee was informed that 120 countries, from all regions, are expected to complete the questionnaire, including all 30 OECD members. All but eight of these participants are expected to agree to have their results published. Once the results have been processed, they will be placed on the Committee's web page, replacing the 2001 results. Metadata for 54 countries were disseminated on the IMF's website in early 2005.

Task Force on the Feasibility of Conducting a Coordinated Direct Investment Survey

The Committee discussed the work of the Task Force on the Feasibility of Conducting a Coordinated Direct Investment Survey. The Task Force was set up in 2004, following the Committee's endorsement at its 2003 meeting of the proposal by the IMF's STA to the IMF's Executive Board to undertake a feasibility study as a possible precursor to a CDIS. Such a survey would build on the successes of the CPIS and SIMSDI. STA had advised the Executive Board of the potential value of a CDIS, in light of the key importance of direct investment data and the discrepancies in the existing data. It also advised the Board of the complexities of such an undertaking. The department had stressed the importance of conducting a feasibility study before embarking on what would represent a much more ambitious exercise than either the CPIS or SIMSDI.

The feasibility study and the work on direct investment for the new balance of payments manual are to be done in tandem. Work was needed on various methodological issues before a full survey could be carried out. The feasibility study is to be carried out in conjunction with the OECD and other international organizations with an interest in direct investment statistics and simultaneous with the work being undertaken by the DITEG, so that the CDIS, should it proceed, will be based on the methodological standards in the new balance of payments manual and the new Benchmark Definition of Foreign Direct Investment.

¹¹See Foreign Direct Investment Statistics: How Countries Measure FDI, 2001 (Washington: International Monetary Fund, 2003).

The Task Force comprises the ECB, Statistical Office of the European Communities (Eurostat), the OECD, United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD), and the IMF; it met three times in 2004. Its meetings have also been attended by representatives from Australia, Belgium, Hong Kong SAR, South Africa, the United Kingdom, and the United States. The Task Force considered the survey's reference date, whether data should be collected on income and financial transactions, whether end-of-period assets data should be collected, or whether the survey should be restricted to liabilities positions only, as well as which jurisdictions should be asked to participate.

In view of the complexity of direct investment relationships, the difficulties involved in obtaining consistent valuation principles (given that most direct investment entities are not listed), as well as the problems involved in coordinating a large survey of this nature, the Task Force proposed that the survey be conducted as of end-2009. The Task Force felt that delaying the reference date to 2009 has many advantages. Among these are the fact that the revised standards on direct investment that will be included in the new balance of payments manual and the revised Benchmark Definition will not be available until 2006,¹² at the earliest. The Task Force felt that basing a CDIS on the current standards might limit its usefulness, especially if the survey were to be repeated. Waiting until 2009 also has the advantage of coinciding with the United States' benchmark survey on outward direct investmentthere are clear synergies and analytical benefits from conducting a CDIS at the same time that the largest direct investing country undertakes such a survey, as asset data from the United States could be compared, on a bilateral basis, with the data for the counterpart liabilities. A further advantage of waiting until 2009 is that it would give countries time to prepare for the survey. Four years' lead time is comparable to the time between the decision to undertake the first CPIS and its reference date.

The Task Force also proposed that the survey should be limited, at least initially, to liabilities positions data (broken down by counterpart country), although it felt that assets positions data (also by counterparty) might also be collected, at least from those jurisdictions with significant outward direct investment. The Task Force proposed, at least for the first such survey, should it proceed, that information be limited to the immediate counter-

¹²Although the work of DITEG was concluded in early 2005, and its recommendations were considered by its parent bodies—the Committee and the WIIS—by the end of June 2005, the process of turning these decisions into internationally accepted standards will take at least a year.

party. While data on ultimate beneficial owner/ultimate destination (UBO/UD) are very useful, the Task Force was of the view that extending the scope of the survey to UBO/UD would impose too heavy a burden.

In addition, the Task Force determined that about 80 jurisdictions should be invited to participate in the feasibility study, with sufficient participation from every region. Limiting participation in the survey to approximately that number would maximize the benefits of the exercise without imposing too heavy a load on the resources of the IMF.

Accordingly, the Task Force prepared a questionnaire to be sent to possible participants in a CDIS. The questionnaire seeks, among other things, to gauge their willingness to participate in a CDIS if it were to be conducted as of end-2009 and to identify obstacles or potential methodological problems that may affect the comprehensiveness of the data collected under such an international initiative. The questionnaire also seeks some bilateral data. Indications of countries' willingness to participate will be in no way binding. The Task Force intends to dispatch the questionnaire in the (northern) spring of 2005, so that responses can be tabulated and a report prepared for the IMF's Executive Board by the end of 2005.

Most members of the Committee strongly supported most of the Task Force's proposals, but some felt that the number of invitees might be increased, given that some countries may become more important destinations of direct investment over the next five years. The Committee recognized the difficulties involved in conducting a successful CDIS. Among these, the Committee felt that a common basis for valuing direct investment positions would be the most problematic. Members also noted that obtaining creditor data for inward direct investment that goes via third-party jurisdictions (such as SEIFiCs) would be very important for several important recipients of direct investment that may not participate in a CDIS. Given the proposal that data not initially be collected on a UBO/UD basis, such information would be missed, as a decision was made not to invite SEIFiCs to participate in a CDIS (given the considerable commitment of their limited statistical resources to the CPIS). The Committee emphasized the need for a solution to this problem.

Remittances

The Committee received a paper from the United Kingdom on statistics on remittances. Other papers that were also considered in this context included one from the OECD's Round Table on Sustainable Development and one from the UNSD on the development of a statistical framework for measurement of remittances.

The paper from the United Kingdom informed the Committee about a set of actions agreed to by the G-8 at its meeting in June 2004 to promote private-sector-led actions to help alleviate poverty. The paper noted that one way to achieve this goal is through the facilitation of remittances to help families and small businesses. G-8 countries have set up a number of actions to measure remittances, both in their own countries and with developing countries, including pilot partnership programs. The paper also noted that there is limited information available on remittances, which acts as a constraint on policymaking. The G-8 has stressed the need to improve the data on remittances and to make them internationally comparable. The establishment of a statistical working group has been proposed, to be led by the World Bank. The group also would include government agencies that compile balance of payments statistics, both from the G-8 and from other countries, along with technical experts from international organizations, including the IMF.

The paper noted that, because compensation of employees' and migrants' transfers may also be relevant within the context of this initiative, the balance of payments framework is likely to be central to the exercise. Unfortunately, data on these series are not considered to be of a very high quality even at the aggregate level, let alone for bilateral data, which is where most of the focus is likely to be.

In this regard, the paper from the OECD's Round Table on Sustainable Development provided valuable comparisons across countries and regions. While recognizing the data limitations, the paper pointed out that, for example, most remittances and compensation of employees (they were treated together, as published data frequently do not draw a distinction) recorded by OECD countries were to other OECD countries, and that most payments recorded from non-OECD countries were with other non-OECD countries.

The paper on the statistical framework to measure the movement of persons, prepared by UNSD, takes a broader scope than Mode 4 as defined in the General Agreement on Trade in Services (GATS). Mode 4, in a strict sense, focuses exclusively on the supply of services through the presence of natural persons of one country in the territory of another country. The proposed framework is designed to obtain a more in-depth picture of the economic impacts of the temporary movement of persons in the home and host countries, as well as more reliable estimates of economic indicators such as gross domestic product and remittances, and, by extension, gross national income and gross national disposable income. The paper also discussed the choice of variables to analyze the economic impact of the movement of persons and, in particular, identified the need to develop a common definition for remittances.

The Committee was apprised that a meeting on remittances, including statistical issues, was to be hosted by the World Bank in early 2005 (STA was present at this meeting).

The Committee found these papers to be very interesting and revealing. The Committee felt that it would be appropriate to request the World Bank to ask the G-8 to confirm that the balance of payments framework would be used and, if so, that the balance of payments classification is appropriate for policy needs. It was agreed that, once confirmation is received, the TSGMNP should take aspects of this issue forward. The Committee was also advised that the government of the United Kingdom is offering to provide funds to assist developing countries in implementing surveys on remittances.

The HIPC Initiative

The Committee considered a paper from the IMF on the statistical treatment of transactions and positions arising from the HIPC Initiative and Exceptional Finance. As the HIPC Initiative was launched well after the publication of BPM5, there has been concern among compilers that the current framework does not adequately address some of the HIPC debt-related transactions. Among the principal areas of concern are: (i) the classification of transactions once agreements are reached in principle and before their signing and implementation; (ii) measurement of savings (transfers) arising from reductions of interest to concessional levels; and (iii) identification and classification of transfers, including those dealing with HIPC Trust Funds. Of particular note was the importance of correctly treating transfers to be sure that the savings behavior recorded by the parties involved is not presented in a manner that might be misleading for economic analysis and policymaking.

In 1996, the IMF and the World Bank together designed a framework to provide special assistance to HIPCs that made a commitment to programs supported by both institutions. The HIPC Initiative allows eligible countries to benefit from a reduction in the present value of the stock of their external debt to sustainable levels, in exchange for continued efforts in macroeconomic stabilization, structural adjustment, and poverty reduction. In 1999, the Enhanced HIPC Initiative was introduced to strengthen the link between debt relief, poverty reduction, and social policies through deeper and more rapid debt relief to a larger number of countries.

The paper included a series of particular questions that had been addressed to the Committee. These included: (i) the statistical treatment of the debt service falling due under the Paris Club Agreements and during debt-service moratoria; (ii) economic transfers arising from concessional lending; (iii) rescheduled payments arising from the accrual of interest; (iv) the separation of current from capital transfers in exceptional financing; and (v) the treatment of income accruing in the HIPC Trust Funds.

The Committee found the paper to be very valuable because it addressed many of the issues that needed clarification. A further paper providing methodological guidance on the specific issues raised will be considered at the Committee's next meeting.

International Financial Statistics

The Committee was informed about the international financial statistics maintained by the BIS: 38 jurisdictions participate in the provision of data on a locational basis (these data are assembled on the same residence basis as the balance of payments); 30 jurisdictions provide data on a consolidated basis. Of the latter, all but 9 (all smaller jurisdictions) provide data on an ultimate risk basis, consistent with the BIS definition. Most participating central banks submit their data to the BIS within 12–13 weeks of the end of the period. As of end-2004, the BIS will be collecting enhanced consolidated banking data that will cover more detailed and comprehensive data on country risk exposures on an ultimate risk basis, including exposures from derivative instruments.

For data on foreign exchange and derivatives markets, the Committee was advised that a record 52 countries participated in the 2004 BIS triennial survey. The survey was conducted in two parts. The first part was the collection of data on turnover in foreign exchange and OTC derivatives market activity on a locational basis for April 2004. The second part was the collection of data at end-June 2004 for positions outstanding on OTC derivatives market activity on a consolidated basis. Nondeliverable forwards (NDFs) were identified separately. Preliminary results were released on the BIS's website (http://www.bis.org) in 2004,¹³ and final results became available in March 2005. Data quality of the survey was improved by: (i) clarification of the definition of "dealers" and "in-house" or related-party deals; (ii) improved definition of the dealer concept in order to better distinguish between inter-dealer trades and those with end customers; (iii) use of a sales desk basis, as opposed to a trading desk basis; and (iv) provision of illustrative examples for respondents on how to

¹³The BIS set a tighter reporting deadline than for previous surveys; as a result, the data were released earlier.

determine the location of trades. The BIS also collects and publishes statistics on most OTC financial derivatives on a semi-annual basis, covering stock data on notional and market values on a consolidated basis, from approximately 60 major dealers in the G-10.

The Committee was informed that the BIS makes its securities database available, without charge, on its website. The database covers most international securities, but the coverage of domestic securities is not as comprehensive: at present, 42 jurisdictions (mostly central banks) provide data on domestic issues. These data are compared with various other data sources to maximize the data quality.

Reporting Under BPM5

The Committee reviewed the progress countries were making in reporting balance of payments and IIP data to the IMF's STA on the basis of the classification system of *BPM5*, as well as the use of electronic reporting. For the 2004 *Balance of Payments Statistics Yearbook*—

- 160 countries reported balance of payments data using the coding system of *BPM5* (compared with 157 in 2003).
- 162 countries reported in electronic form (compared with 158 in 2003), 9 of which report in EDIFACT (the same as in 2003).
- 33 countries are now reporting using the STA's webbased Integrated Correspondence System, an increase of 13 from 2003.
- 105 countries now report quarterly balance of payments statistics to the IMF (up from 100 in 2003).
- A growing number of countries are reporting IIP data: for 2003, there were 84 comprehensive reporters (an increase of one from 2003), and a further 14 provided partial IIP data (up from 12 the year earlier).

Other Issues

The Committee also received papers on: (i) the establishment of a revisions policy for India's balance of payments data, which also explored various techniques for analyzing revisions; (ii) developments in the United States toward the collection of data on financial derivatives; (iii) the development of Japan's internet reporting system; (iv) the reengineering of the collection and processing of business statistics at the Australian Bureau of Statistics; (v) a series of seminars in 2005, to be conducted by STA, on the data template on international reserves and foreign currency liquidity to review experiences; and (vi) a report on the work of the Interagency Task Force on Finance Statistics. The Committee was also given a presentation on the evolution of the French reporting system since the inception of the EMU.

V. Future Work Program

Appendix 3 sets out in detail the medium-term work program agreed by the Committee in 2004. Subjects are ranked by priority. The rankings are not intended to reflect the absolute importance of each topic but rather to reflect the relative priority assigned to each topic by the Committee, given the limited time and resources available for research and investigation.

Top priority for the Committee is updating the *BPM5* and direct investment issues. For updating the *BPM5*, STA and other members of the TEGs will prepare and disseminate several draft chapters of the new manual, including incorporating the work of BOPTEG, DITEG, and CUTEG. For issues relating to direct investment, the IMF's STA will provide a progress report of the Task Force on the Feasibility of Conducting a Coordinated Direct Investment Survey, including the results of the questionnaire to be sent to potential participants.

High priority is accorded to the CPIS, the development of a CSDB, remittances, the HIPC Initiative, metadata on direct investment, data quality, and reserve assets.

The Committee gave medium priority to global imbalances, implementation of *BPM5*, international trade in services, third-party holdings, reverse transactions, external debt and the IIP, and international financial statistics.

A paper by STA on "short" positions was accorded a low priority.

VI. 2005 Meeting

In view of the tight timetable for the preparation of the new balance of payments manual and the consequential early resolution of issues still outstanding, the Committee held its 2005 meeting on June 27–July 1, 2005. The meeting was held at the IMF Headquarters, in Washington, D.C.

Appendix 1 IMF Committee on Balance of Payments Statistics: Composition as of December 31, 2004

Chair

Robert W. Edwards IMF, Statistics Department

Members

Abdulrahman Al-Hamidy1 Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency Michael Atingi-Ego Bank of Uganda Stuart Brown Office for National Statistics, United Kingdom Teresa Cornejo Banco Central de Chile Satoru Hagino Bank of Japan Robert Heath IMF, Statistics Department Makoto Kato Ministry of Finance, Japan Ralph Kozlow U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis Lily Ou-Yang Fong Census and Statistics Department, China, Hong Kong SAR Michael Debabrata Patra Reserve Bank of India Neil Patterson IMF, Statistics Department Art Ridgeway Statistics Canada Eduardo Rodriguez-Tenés Bank of Spain Sergei Shcherbakov Central Bank of Russia

Almut Steger Deutsche Bundesbank Ernest van der Merwe Reserve Bank of South Africa

Representatives of International Organizations

Ayse Bertrand Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development William Cave Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development Ivo C. Havinga United Nations Statistical Division Jean-Marc Israël European Central Bank Philippe Mesny Bank for International Settlements Markus van Wersch Statistical Office of the European Communities

Secretariat

Robert Dipplesman¹ IMF, Statistics Department John Joisce IMF, Statistics Department Manik Shrestha IMF, Statistics Department

¹Did not attend the meeting in 2004.

Appendix 2 Terms of Reference of the IMF Committee on Balance of Payments Statistics

- The Committee will oversee the implementation of the recommendations presented in the Report on the Measurement of International Capital Flows and in the Report on the World Current Account Discrepancy, advise the IMF on methodological and compilation issues in the context of balance of payments and international investment position statistics, and foster greater coordination of data collection among countries.
- 2. The Committee will bring to the attention of the IMF new developments that impact on the compilation of statistics of cross-border transactions or related stocks of financial assets and liabilities, and work with the IMF in determining how these activities should be treated in accordance with *BPM5*.
- 3. The Committee will investigate ways in which data collection can be better coordinated among countries, with a view, inter alia, to facilitating the exchange of statistics among countries (e.g., bilateral transactions or stock data). It will also identify related areas for study and determine how work in those areas should be carried forward.
- In carrying forward its work, the Committee will collaborate with other national compilers and with appropriate international organizations.
- 5. In consultation with the IMF's Statistics Department, the Committee will determine its work program and will meet under IMF auspices at least once a year.
- 6. The Committee will prepare an annual report for presentation to the Managing Director of the IMF.

Appendix 3 Medium-Term Work Program of the IMF Committee on Balance of Payments Statistics: End-December 2004

Subject	Issue	Action
Top Priority		
Updating <i>BPM5</i>	Draft several chapters of the new balance of pay- ments manual and prepare methodological documents for consideration by the Committee and technical expert groups	Papers and draft chapters by IMF staff and other members of technical expert groups
Coordinated Direct Investment Survey	Feasibility study	Report by IMF staff on the work of the Task Force on the Feasibility of Conducting a Coordinated Direct Investment Survey, including results on the survey of potential participants, and progress towards making recommendations to the IMF Executive Board
High Priority		
Coordinated Portfolio Investment Survey	Results of the 2003 and 2004 CPIS	IMF to publish results of 2003 CPIS and process 2004 CPIS; report by IMF staff on 2003 results
	Conference on use of the CPIS database	To be organized by the Bank of Spain, in collaboration with the IMF
Remittances	Request by G-8 summit for improved data on remittances	Reports by UN on activities of the Technical Sub-Group on the Movement of Natural Persons—Mode 4 and by the IMF on international meeting at the World Bank
Development of Centralized Securities Database	Operationalization of the ECB's Centralized Securities Database	Report by the ECB
Heavily indebted poor countries	Treatment of HIPCs in balance of payments and the IIP	Paper by IMF staff
Metadata on direct investment	Survey of Implementation of Methodological Standards for Direct Investment	Progress report by IMF staff and OECD on the 2003 survey; IMF to publish country metadata
	Promote use of SIMSDI metadata	IMF to contact countries and international or ganizations; Australia to prepare paper for <i>Balance of Payments Newsletter</i>
Data quality	India's revisions policy	India and IMF to prepare paper for <i>Balance</i> of <i>Payments Newsletter</i> of the STA
Reserve assets	Definition of reserve assets	Paper by IMF staff
Medium Priority		
Global imbalances	Indication of imbalances in global balance of payments statistics	Paper by IMF staff
Implementation of BPM5	Update on implementation and practical difficulties in implementing <i>BPM5</i>	Paper by IMF staff on <i>BPM5</i> reporting to the IMF's STA
International trade in services	Implementation of Manual on Statistics of International Trade in Services	Paper by OECD on activities of the Task Force on Statistics of International Trade in Services

Subject	Issue	Action
Third-party holdings of portfolio investment	Consultation with potential respondents	Progress report by technical group
Reverse transactions	Statistical treatment of repurchase agreements, securities lending, gold loans, and gold swaps	Report by working group on reverse transactions, including proposed solutions
External debt and IIP	Improve reporting of external debt data within the IIP framework	Paper by IMF staff on developments at Interagency Task Force on Finance Statistics
International Financial Statistics	Use and improvement of international financial statistics	Paper by BIS
Low Priority		
Portfolio investment	Statistical treatment of short positions	Paper by IMF staff